APPEAL NO. 48027-1-II

SA ALL TILL T

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Angela K. Scoutten kna Schreiner

Appellant,

V.

Michael J. Scoutten

Respondent.

2016 JAN 19 AH 9: 55
STATE OF WASHINGTON

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable STEPHANIE A. AREND No. 11-3-03452-5

Angela K. Scoutten kna Schreiner
Pro Se
5420 60th Ave Ct. W
University Place, WA
98467

A. INTRODUCTION

This action arose from my request to relocate 40 minutes north to Mercer Island with my 5 year old daughter Memphis. I filed a Notice of Intended Relocation (EX 1) after receiving full time employment with benefits, an offer from my employer for a 20% discount on housing, and to be in closer proximity to my workplace and Seattle Children's Hospital and Everett where I drove Memphis for ongoing medical care 3-5 times a month related to her genetic conditions and special needs. Neither party filed a Petition for Modification of the parenting plan at any time. I requested the Final Parenting Plan entered by agreement on May 3rd, 2013 (CP 40-48) remain in place. I offered to transport Memphis to Mr. Scoutten or his delegate for his visitations three weekends per month. Mr. Scoutten filed an Objection (EX 2) to my relocation on February 19th, 2015. Mr. Scoutten failed to file a Petition for Modification or note a hearing that would provide adequate grounds for relief within 15 days, required by RCW 26.09.480. A temporary hearing was never held.

The trial court committed reversible error by allowing Mr. Miller (Mr. Scoutten's attorney) to prejudice the proposed relocation by putting on a modification case during the relocation trial, before

determining whether to grant or restrict the relocation. Trial was held on five separated days over a period of 4 months. After three separated days of trial were held, the trial court orally ruled denying the relocation request for Memphis on May 4th, 2015. The trial court asked if I still intended on relocating, I indicated to the trial court that I would not be relocating without Memphis. I was no longer pursuing relocation for purposes of RCW 26.09.260 (6). The trial court failed to enter any final orders regarding the denial of the relocation on May 4th, 2015. No relocation took place. No additional evidence was submitted.

The trial court Amended the case Schedule continuing it under "relocation" (CP 74-75) until June 18th, 2015. The same day it also entered an Order for Family court hearing scheduling a "MOD trial" for June, 18th, 2015 (CP 76). The trial court failed to require Mr. Scoutten note a hearing for adequate cause required by RCW 26.09.260 (6) and RCW 26.09.260 (1)-(2). The trial court failed to require Mr. Scoutten to file and serve a Petition for Modification with affidavit setting forth facts. This denied due process and opportunity to file an opposing affidavit. The trial court lacked the authority to provide relief for any issues outside of relocation, and no relocation had taken place. On June, 18th, 2015, almost two

months after the denial of the relocation, the trial court issued an oral ruling and adopted Mr. Scoutten's proposed parenting plan"in total" (EX 4). The trial court adopted Mr. Scoutten's proposed parenting plan placing sole physical and legal custody of Memphis with Mr. Scoutten, placing restrictions upon me. The trial court erroneously made a major modification to the parenting plan without requiring that Mr. Scoutten file a Petition for Modification of the parenting plan with affidavit setting forth facts, failed to require adequate cause or any pre-trial procedures, mandatory settlement conference, or mandatory parenting seminars after I was no longer pursuing relocation for purposes of RCW 26.09.260 (6). The trial court orally ruled that the new final parenting plan would start immediately on that upcoming weekend but again failed to file any final orders. On July, 24th, 2015 Mr. Scoutten proposed an entirely new parenting plan and the court adopted it the same day (CP 250-261), (Presentation of Final Orders, July 24th, 2015, Morning Session, VRP pg. 1-14). Six days later, Mr. Scoutten granted his legal decision making rights for Memphis to his brand new wife, Monica Scott, through Power of Attorney (CP 459-461) and Mr. Scoutten went to training. Mr. Scoutten is a deployable Ranger in the U.S. Army, his deployment rotation is 4-5 months every 8 months. Monica Scott and her niece Courtney had previously been restricted from being around Memphis by the Honorable Clint Johnson in 2014 "until further order of the court" (EX 16). This placed the care of our daughter with an unevaluated third party who had been restricted from being around Memphis. Mr. Scoutten alleged "neglect" in his proposed parenting plans and the trial court adopted those findings. The trial court failed to appoint a GAL required by RCW 26.44.053. The trial court erroneously adopted fraudulent Child Support Orders the same day. Judge Arend made discriminatory and bias statements about me in open court, negatively stereotyping me based upon hearsay.

I appeal and ask the appellate court to vacate all final orders entered on July 24th, 2015 and reinstate the Original Final Parenting Plan entered by agreement on May 3rd, 2013 (CP 40-48).

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- No. 1) The trial court erred in it's Abuse of Discretion, failing to consider each of the 11 relocation factors outlined by RCW 26.09.520, and entered factual findings that were unsupported by the record.
- No. 2) The trial court erred on Finding of Fact 2.3.10.
- No. 3) The trial court erred on Finding of Fact 2.3.1.
- No. 4) The trial court erred on Finding of Fact 2.3.2.
- No. 5) The trail court erred on Finding of Fact 2.3.3.
- No. 6) The trial court erred on Finding of Fact 2.3.4.
- No. 7) The trial court erred on Finding of Fact 2.3.5.
- No. 8) The trial court erred on Finding of Fact 2.3.6.
- No. 9) The trial court erred on Finding of Fact 2.3.7.
- No. 10) The trial court erred on Finding of Fact 2.3.8.
- No. 11) The trial court erred on Finding of Fact 2.3 9.
- No. 12) The trial court erred by not considering Factor 2.3.11.
- No. 13) The trial court erred by improperly applying weight to the relocation factors and applied the most weight to the first factor in violation of RCW 26.09.520.
- No.14) The trial court erred by ignoring the rebuttable presumption in favor of relocation pursuant to RCW 26.09.520.
- No. 15) The trial court erred by making a major modification to the parenting plan without requiring Adequate Cause after I was no longer pursuing relocation for purposes of RCW 26.09.260 (6).
- No. 16) The trial court committed reversible error under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and the United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment by failing to require Mr.

Scoutten file and serve a Petition to Modify Parenting Plan/Residential Schedule with affidavit setting forth facts, with filing of a Summons, Proposed Parenting Plan/Residential Schedule, and Petitioner's Notice of Adequate Cause required by RCW 26.09.260(6) and RCW 26.09.260 (1)-(2).

No. 17) The trial court erred by affecting a substantial right to privacy, allowing inadmissible video evidence to be used in trial in violation of RCW 9.73.030 and RCW 9.73.050

No. 18) The trial court erred by failing to appoint a GAL to investigate allegations of abuse or neglect required by RCW 26.44.053 affecting a substantial right to due process

No. 19) The trial court erred by adopting find of fact #1: Neglect or substantial non-performance of parenting functions in Section 2.2 and 2.7 of the ORMDD/ORDYMT (CP 246-249) and section 2.2 of the Final Parenting Plan (CP 250-261), and adopting restrictions in Section 4.3 and 3.10 of the final parenting plan.

No. 20) The trial court erred by adopting finding of fact #2 in Section 2.2 and 2.7 of the ORMDD/ORDYMT (CP 246-249) and section 2.2 of the Final Parenting Plan (CP 250-261).

No. 21) The trial court erred by adopting finding of fact #3 in Section 2.2 and 2.7 of the ORMDD/ORDYMT (CP 246-249) and section 2.2 of the Final Parenting Plan (CP 250-261).

No. 22) The trial court erred by adopting finding of fact #4 in Section 2.2 and 2.7 of the ORMDD/ORDYMT (CP 246-249) and section 2.2 of the Final Parenting Plan (CP 250-261).

No. 23) The trial court erred by adopting finding of fact #5 in Section 2.2 and 2.7 of the ORMDD/ORDYMT (CP 246-249) and section 2.2 of the Final Parenting Plan (CP 250-261).

No. 24) The trial court erred by adopting finding of fact #6 in Section 2.2 and 2.7 of the ORMDD/ORDYMT (CP 246-249) and section 2.2 of the Final Parenting Plan (CP 250-261).

No. 25) The trial court committed reversible error under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and the United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment failing to provide equal protection of the laws and violating due process throughout the trial and by making a determination for modification before the relocation ruling in violation of RCW 26.09.260 (6).

No. 26) The trial court erred in its words and conduct throughout the proceedings that demonstrate an obvious manifestation of bias and/or prejudice in violation of Canon 2 of Judicial Code of Conduct.

No. 27) The trial court erred by entering a Final Parenting Plan orally on June 18th, 2015 and in writing on July 24th, 2015 in violation of RCW 26.09.181 (b), RCW 26.09.187(vii), RCW 26.09.184, RCW26.09.002, RCW26.09.181(3), RCW26.09.181(7), RCW26.09.181(5), RCW26.44.053, RCW26.09.182, RCW 26.09.165 and without the required signatures.

No. 28) The trial court erred by failing to require the mandatory Pre-trial procedures and ADR/Settlement conference take place pursuant to PCLSPR 94.04 (d) and parenting seminars required by PCLSPR 94.05.

No. 29) The trial court erred by adopting section 2.7 in the ORMDD/ORDYMT that a substantial change of circumstances had occurred at the time of trial.

No. 30) The trial court erred by entering a fraudulent Final Child Support Order on July 24th, 2015.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Whether the trial court Abused it's Discretion when it failed to consider each of the 11 relocation factors required by RCW 26.09.520, improperly weighed the relocation factors, entered factual findings that were unsupported by the record, failed to acknowledge the presumption in favor of relocation and failed to enter written orders after orally denying the relocation on May, 4th, 2015.
- 2. Whether the trial court committed reversible erred by failing to require Mr. Scoutten file and serve a Petition for Modification with affidavit setting forth facts and note a hearing for adequate cause, and by failing to require both parties attend mandatory ADR or Settlement Conference and parenting seminars before making a major modification to the May 2013 final parenting plan.
- 3. Whether the trial court erred by not requiring adequate cause after a relocation was no longer actively being pursued for purposes of RCW 26.09.260 (6) and making a major modification to the May 2013 final parenting plan awarding sole physical and legal custody to Mr. Scoutten
- 4. Whether the appellate court should vacate all orders and the Final Parenting plan entered on July 24th, 2015 due to numerous Constitutional violations of due process and procedure throughout this case including fundamental violations of privacy by admitting inadmissible evidence into the court record that lead to undue prejudice of the trial.

- 5. Whether the trial courts statements were in violation of several rules under Canon 2 of Judicial Code of Conduct negatively stereotyping mother.
- 6 Whether the trial court erred in not appointing a guardian ad litem for Memphis required by the Legislature after Mr. Scoutten alleged that Memphis had been subjected to child abuse or neglect and adopted those findings into final orders.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

09/14/2011 I filed for divorce following a domestic violence incident documented in a police report (EX 52)

01/03/2012 A temporary parenting plan was entered designating me as primary caregiver of Memphis (CP 31-37).

07/22/2012 Mr. Scoutten's residential time he had delegated to his mother during his deployment was vacated (EX 51).

05/03/2013 Mr Scoutten and I mutually agreed upon a Final Parenting Plan designating me as primary caregiver (CP 40-48).

07/14'2014 Monica Scott was restricted from Memphis (EX 16).

01/31/2015 I filed a Notice of Intended Relocation (EX 1).

02/19/2015 Mr. Scoutten filed an Objection to Intended Relocation filed (EX 52-58).

02/19/2015 An Order Assigning Case To Family Court & Notice of Hearing was filed (CP 59). Hearing was Cancelled.

02/27/2015 An Amended Case Schedule setting a trial date for 04/21/2015 was filed (CP 71-72). Mr. Scoutten entered a proposed parenting plan (CP 60-70), 9 days after he originally filed his Objection to relocation.

04/21/2015 The first day of the relocation trial commenced.

05/04/2015 The court made an oral ruling denying Memphis' relocation. I indicated I would not be relocating without Memphis (VRP 441).

05/04/2015 The trial court asks Mr. Scoutten for his Petition for Modification (VRP 443). One is never produced.

05/04/2015 An Amended Case Schedule (CP 74-75) was entered continuing the relocation trial after the trial court had already orally ruled denying the relocation and I indicated I would not be relocating without Memphis. An Order Setting hearing for Family Ct 2 was entered for a "MOD trial" on June 18th (CP 76).

06/18/2015 The trial court made an oral ruling awarding Mr Scoutten sole physical and legal custody of Memphis (June 18, 2015, Afternoon Session, pg. 1-9).

07/24/2015 The trial court entered four final orders. (Friday, July, 24th, 2015, Morning Session pgs. 1-14)

- 1. Order re Petition for Modification of Custody (CP 246-249).
- 2. Order on Objection to Relocation (CP 242-245).
- 3. Order of Child Support Final Order (CP 441-457).
- 4. Parenting Plan Final (CP 250-261).

E. Argument

I. The Washington Relocation Act imposes notice requirements and sets standards for relocating children who are the subject of court orders regarding residential time. In re Custody of Osborne, 119 Wash. App. 133, 140, 79 P.3d 465 (2003).

RCW 26.09.520: "Basis for determination. The person proposing to relocate with the child shall provide his or her reasons for the intended relocation. There is a rebuttable presumption that the

intended relocation of the child will be permitted. A person entitled to object to the intended relocation of the child may rebut the presumption by demonstrating that the detrimental effect of the relocation outweighs the benefit of the change to the child and the relocating person, based upon the following factors. The factors listed in this section are not weighted. No inference is to be drawn from the order in which the following factors are listed:

(1) The relative strength, nature, quality, extent of involvement, and stability of the child's relationship with each parent, siblings, and other significant persons in the child's life; (2) Prior agreements of the parties; (3) Whether disrupting the contact between the child and the person with whom the child resides a majority of the time would be more detrimental to the child than disrupting contact between the child and the person objecting to the relocation; (4) Whether either parent or a person entitled to residential time with the child is subject to limitations under RCW 26.09.191; (5) The reasons of each person for seeking or opposing the relocation and the good faith of each of the parties in requesting or opposing the relocation; (6) The age, developmental stage, and needs of the child, and the likely impact the relocation or its prevention will have on the child's physical, educational, and emotional development, taking into consideration any special needs of the child; (7) The quality of life, resources, and opportunities available to the child and to the relocating party in the current and proposed geographic locations; (8) The availability of alternative arrangements to foster and continue the child's relationship with and access to the other parent; (9) The alternatives to relocation and whether it is feasible and desirable for the other party to relocate also; (10) The financial impact and logistics of the relocation or its prevention; and (11) For a temporary order, the amount of time before a final decision can be made at trial." [2000 c 21 § 14.]

II. Standard of Review

1. Constitutional issues are reviewed de novo.

The Fourteenth Amendment provides that no State shall "deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law." The Due Process Clause "guarantees more than fair process." Washington v. Glucksberg, 521 U.S. 702, 719 (1997). The Clause also includes a substantive component that "provides heightened protection against government interference with fundamental rights and liberty interests." Reno v. Flores, 507 U.S. 292, 301—302 (1993). The liberty interest at issue in this case—the interest of parents in the care, custody, and control of their child-is perhaps the oldest of the fundamental liberty interests. In Meyer v. Nebraska, 262 U.S. 390, 399, 401 (1923). Constitutional issues are reviewed de novo. State v. Dobbs, 87472- 7, 2014 WL 980102 (Wash. Mar. 13, 2014), Dellen Wood Products, Inc. v. Washington State Dept of Labor & Indus., 43636 - 1 - II, 2014 WL 710682, Wn. App., P. 3d (Wash Ct. App. Feb. 25, 2014).

2. Abuse of Discretion

A trial court's decision regarding the relocation of children is reviewed for a manifest abuse of discretion. Horner, 151 Wash.2d at 893, 93 P.3d 124; Bay, 147 Wash. App. at 651, 196 P 3d 753. A trial court manifestly abuses its discretion when our review of the record shows that its decision is based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons. In re Marriage of Littlefield, 133 Wash.2d 39, 46-47, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997). A court's decision is manifestly

unreasonable if it is outside the range of acceptable choices, given the facts and the applicable legal standard; it is based on untenable grounds if the factual findings are unsupported by the record; it is based on untenable reasons if it is based on an incorrect standard or the facts do not meet the requirements of the correct standard. State v. Rundquist, 79 Wash App. 786, 793, 905 P.2d 922 (1995) (citing Washington State Bar Ass'n, Washington Appellate Practice Deskbook § 18.5 (2d ed.1993)), review denied, 129 Wash 2d 1003, 914 P.2d 66 (1996). "When this court considers whether a trial court abused its discretion in failing to document its consideration of the child relocation factors, we will ask two questions. Did the trial court enter specific findings of fact on each factor? If not, was substantial evidence presented in each factor, and do the trial court's findings of fact and oral articulations reflect that it considered each factor? Only with such written documentation or oral articulation can we be certain that the trial court properly considered the best interests of the child and the relocating person within the context of the competing interests and circumstances required by the CRA." In re marriage of Horner, 151 Wash. 2d 884, 93 P. 3d 124, (2004).

No 1) The trial court erred in its Abuse of Discretion by failing to consider each of the 11 statutory factors outlined by RCW 26.09.520, and made findings that were unsupported by the record.

"For the appellate court to determine whether the trial court correctly applied the statutory mandates to the given facts of a particular case, the trial judge has a special responsibility to make sufficient factual findings sufficient to permit appellate review. This also maintains public confidence in the judiciary. If the trial court fails to specifically address each factor, the record does not support that substantial evidence was presented on each relocation factor, and the trial court's written findings and oral ruling do not reflect that it considered each factor, "we cannot review the trial court decision because its basis is unclear," and we must remand to the trial court for entry of specific findings of fact or oral articulations of the child relocation factors." Horner, 151 Wn.2d at 897 (citing In re Parentage of Jannot, 149 Wn.2d 123, 65 P. 3d 664 (2003). In this case, the trial court itself recognized that it did not consider each of the 11 statutory factors under RCW 26.09.520, admitting there was not substantial evidence in the record to make findings on each factor and made several findings that were unsupported by the record. We review challenges to a trial court's A Yes, I would "(VRP 152, Agosto, P.-Cross by Ms. Hosannah).

The trial court's finding that Memphis' "siblings and other significant persons exist here in Pierce County not in Mercer Island" is unsupported by the record because Memphis has no siblings and the record is devoid of any evidence regarding that.

The trial court goes on to say: "It's very clear to me, based upon the evidence that was presented that Memphis has a very strong relationship with her father, with her maternal grandmother, with her paternal grandmother and with father's fiancé. The issue is the relationship that she has with her mother" (VRP 425, Court's Oral Ruling).

There was substantial evidence in the record supporting that I had a caring and supportive relationship with Memphis.

Q How would you describe your relationship with Memphis? A Good. I mean, I spend a lot of time with her I usually cuddle with her I get her ready for school in the morning. I go to bed with her every night, and we spend time together after school." (VRP 362, 363 Schreiner, A.-Direct by Ms. Hosannah).

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