NO. 48027-1-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ANGELA K. SCOUTTEN NKA SCHREINER,

Appellant,

v.

MICHAEL J. SCOUTTEN,

Respondent

2016 MAR 22 PM 1:42 ASHINGTON

JOHN A MILLER, WSBA #5741 john@johnmillerlegal.com Attorney for Respondent 1019 Regents Blvd. Suite 204 Fircrest, WA 98466 253-564-5054

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

her mother rent in University Place and her rent would be \$1,000.00 in Mercer Island.

The logistics of the relocation or prevention of it were minimal for Angie; essentially, Angie would have to commute to work if the relocation were denied, or Memphis would have to commute to Mike's house and both her grandparents house had the relocation been granted. Angie and Paula testified that they would provide all transportation to get Memphis to and from Mercer Island if the relocation were granted.

The Court also heard testimony that Paula would remain Memphis' nanny and would commute and stay on Mercer Island if the relocation were granted. The Court wasn't convinced that Memphis would be in the car less, even though her medical appointments would be closer; the Court compared the drive for three or so medical appointments a month with the weekly visits with Mike in Pierce County, and found it would mean more time on the freeway for visits than for medical appointments. RP 434.

The Court also found that the logistics of the 2013 parenting plan did not seem workable with the move:

just seems very, very unworkable to have a Friday at 5 p.m. to Monday at 5 p.m. and three weekends a month and then one Monday a month have 4 p.m. to 7 p.m. with Dad. I don't

know how that could possibly work, never mind all the rest of the schedule, just the basic school... RP 440.

After going through all the factors in an oral decision, the Court found

that on balance, the factors weigh against granting the requested

relocation for Memphis, and denied the mother's request to relocate.

RP 440.

Oral Ruling on Modification¹⁷

In addition to what I previously ruled [Relocation]... RP2 3. Instability, which I believe is detrimental to the child. RP2 3. Mother testified she's been staying in homes of at least a couple three different people. RP2 3. ...she didn't know the last name of the person that she was staying at RP2 3. She's had numerous jobs in a very short period of time demonstrating, again, instability, and from night to night, it is just unclear where she is and where Memphis is going to be. RP2 3. She's engaged in abusive use of conflict, and I rely, in part, on Ex 41 [From Exhibit Record – Screenshot of 11 messages from Angie, admitted with no objection] which is a text message regarding – which I'm not going to repeat, you all know what it says. RP2 3.

She made untrue allegations against [Mike], yet at trial she testified that she doesn't remember making them and no one else was present who could have made them, so the Court [concludes] that she must have made these untrue allegations. RP2 3.

There was the issue with respect to Memphis' birthday where Dad contacted her [Angie], said he was unable to be there, requested a time to call to speak to his daughter. RP2 4. He calls and – I believe he got voice mail, but he was also told [by Angie's mother] that Memphis and Mom were out for ice cream, or she testified to the fact, which was also

¹⁷ RP2 is the Oral Ruling on Modification, versus RP, which encompasses everything up to May 4, 2015.

not true, and it deprived Father of his opportunity to speak to his child on her birthday. RP2 4.

She has also repeatedly interfered or either failed to communicate or communicated inconsistently and interfered with the ability for the parties to engage in co-parenting or decision-making. RP2 4. Some of this responsibility certainly is at the feet of Mr. Scoutten as well, but to the extent that medical appointments were made by agreement of the parties, cancelled by Mother, rescheduled at a time that Dad was unable to attend indicate a failure to communicate and engage in joint decision making and coparenting. RP2 4.

I have serious concerns regarding the child's attachment to her mother. RP2 4. The evidence was overwhelming that the child does not want to return to her mother, does want to return to her maternal grandmother and that would be consistent with Mother's own testimony about putting the child to bed at maternal grandmother's home and then leaving for the evening and staying somewhere else. RP2 4.

In addition, what was most compelling, quite frankly, was Ex 37, I believe, which was the video. RP2 5. Mother stood beside the car, Dad demonstrated very appropriate behavior in the transition of the child to Mother. RP2 5. When Mother does put the child in the car, Mother does not secure the child in the seat. She doesn't strap her in or anything, apparently isn't using any kind of child safety locks on the back door because she barely had the door closed when the child was able to get out of her car seat and open the door to the car and get out of the car. RP2 5.

For all of these reasons, and the reasons I previously expressed as well as those stated in the brief submitted on behalf of [Mike]¹⁸, I am finding that he has met the burden under the statute, and I am going to adopt his parenting plan. RP2 5. Angie's Counsel requests some minor alterations to Mike's Proposed Parenting Plan.

¹⁸ Mike's Brief re: application of RCW 26.09.260(2)(c), Angie's Response, Mike's Reply. CP 87-99, filed June 8, 100-103.

I. The Trial Court Had Authority to Modify the Parenting Plan Because Mike Filed a Petition to Modify, Established a Substantial Change Occurred, and Modification was in Memphis' Best Interest

Even though the Court ruled against the Relocation and Angie stated she would not relocate, the Modification was proper because Mike filed a Petition to Modify, paid a filing fee for the separate action, there was a Modification trial with no objections, and the Court requested additional briefing prior to ruling.

The Court of Appeals "may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial Court." RAP 2.5(a). There were no objections at trial to moving forward with Mike's petition to Modify the Parenting Plan after the Relocation trial. Every right was afforded to Angie to respond, call witnesses, cross examine witnesses, and put forward additional briefing at trial. Angie should not be permitted to raise this issue for the first time on appeal.

This case is controlled first by the Relocation statute and second by the Modification statute, and does not fall squarely under *Grigsby* because Mike filed a petition to Modify the 2013 Parenting Plan. There does not appear to be any case law directly on point with the procedural posture of this case where a modification outside of

the relocation was filed at the same time of the relocation.¹⁹ Even so, there were two issues, no objections, two trials, supplemental briefing, and two rulings.

RCW 26.09.260(6) governs a request for modification made as part of an objection to a petition for relocation. In a relocation case, it is not necessary for the court to consider whether there is a substantial change in circumstances other than the relocation itself, to consider the factors contained in RCW 26.09.260(2). Under the relocation statute, the objecting party can petition to change the residence the child resides a majority of the time without a showing of adequate cause. This statute does not control the outcome of the case once the relocation is off the table because Mike filed a petition to modify and paid the filing fee.

Instead, RCW 26.09.260(1) governs Mike's petition to modify. In order for the Court to have authority to modify the parenting plan after Angie withdrew her intended relocation, the Court had to find

¹⁹ Dicta in a footnote from a Division three case, *In Re Marriage of McDevitt*, 181 Wn. App. 765, 772, 326 P.3d 865 (2014) touches on the less than clear statutory restrictions on the proper procedure for what happens after a relocation is denied, a parent withdraws their relocation request, and modification under the best interests of the child has been explored. That FN though is not directly on point either as this Court went through a best interest of Memphis analysis because Mike filed for a Modification.

(1) based off facts that have arisen since the 2013 parenting plan was entered that (2) a substantial change has occurred in regards to Memphis or Angie, and that (3) modification it is in the best interest of Memphis, and necessary to serve her best interests. RCW 26.09.260(1).

In determining whether modification is in the best interest of Memphis, the Court could not change the PP unless it found (1) Memphis' present environment is detrimental to the her physical, mental, or emotional health and (2) the harm likely to be caused by a change of environment is outweighed by the advantage of the change to the her. RCW 26.09.260(1)(c). The Court did exactly what it was required to do under the law. The Court found modification was in Memphis' best interest based on the instability that was apparent and harming Memphis since the entry of the 2013 PP.

In *In re Marriage of Grigsby*, 112 Wn. App 1, 57 P.3d 1166 (2002), the Trial Court denied the Relocation after finding that the detrimental effect of the relocation outweighed any benefit. The mother withdrew her request to relocate, but the Trial Court modified the Parenting Plan to make the father the primary parent. The COA affirmed the Relocation because the FF were supported by substantial evidence, but reversed the modification fo the PP

because the Court did not have authority to modify the PP to make the father the primary parent once the mother withdrew the request to relocate. *Id.* 1. The Court found that once the mother was no longer pursuing the relocation, there was no substantial change in circumstances and none of the factors contained in RCW 26.09.260(2) were present. *Id.*

Our case is distinguishable from *Grigsby* factually and procedurally. First, Mike filed a Petition to Modify the PP and paid the fee, whereas the father in *Grigsby* did not. Second, in our case, there was a Modification trial and a Relocation trial; there was only a Relocation trial in *Grigsby*. Third, because there was a Modification trial, the Court made its decision to modify the PP because there were RCW 26.09:260(2) factors present. Fourth, after the Court ruled denying the relocation, the mother withdrew her relocation, and the Court did not alter the PP, leaving it to the parties to bring another Motion if it wanted to modify the PP.

In *Grisby*, two months after the relocation ruling, the parties came before the Court for a hearing (unknown who initiated, FN 3) and the Court modified the PP. *Id.* 5. The Court made the father the primary parent, but kept everything else the same, reasoning that it was protecting the children from any proposed relocation in the

future. Our case is different because there was a modification trial, not just a relocation trial, the Court made findings for each trial, supported by substantial evidence, and the Court did not just change the primary parent to protect Memphis from a proposed relocation in the future, like the Court did in *Grigsby*; it made Mike the primary parent because Memphis was being harmed by actions that arose since the 2013 PP was entered and it was in her best interest to live with Mike, not Angie.

After Reversing the Modification of the PP, the *Grigsby* Court addressed the procedural difference from that case and ours by noting the father was free to seek modification of the PP under RCW 26.09.260(2), should he be able to establish that there was a substantial change in circumstances and that the modification was necessary to serve the best interests of the child. *Id.* 26-27.

Here, the trial Court did not modify the Parenting Plan under 26.09.520(6), it modified the Parenting Plan under RCW 26.09.260(1),(2)(c). Had the Court modified the PP under the relocation statute after Angie withdrew her relocation request, the Court *may* have erred, but the Court had authority under 260 to modify after it found, based on facts that had arisen since 2013, which involved the inability to co-parent, unilateral decision making,

deceptive behavior, withholding communication – all of which were detrimental to Memphis' well being.

While Angie is correct that there was not a technical adequate cause hearing,²⁰ this is only a result of the unique procedural posture of the case and should not constitute a reversible error.²¹ In addition, this issue was not addressed at trial and should be barred for review by RAP 2.5(a). Before a modification can be set for a hearing, adequate cause must be established; this requires an affidavit setting forth facts that arose since the entry of the last PP. *Zigler* at 809. In addressing the modification statute after the Relocation trial, the Court requested supplemental briefing before it made its ruling. The supplemental briefing goes beyond what is required to be found to pass the adequate cause hurdle required outside of the relocation statute. It could not have been the legislature's intent in this scenario where a Modification was filed and a Modification trial was in full

²⁰ No facts outside of the record should be considered on this appeal. Any argument or reference to anything occurring before the trial that was not testified to or after July 24, 2015, when the Final Agreed Orders were entered should be stricken and not considered, including inaccurate designation of Clerk's Papers, and any subsequent history of this case. If this Court finds an issue that was not addressed in Angie's brief, but that has merit, it should allow the parties to provide supplement briefing.

²¹ If this case were solely based off just the modification statute, a hearing for adequate cause would be required before the case was set for trial. RCW 26.09.270, *Zigler* at 809. These parties were already in trial. A ruling had already been made on the relocation.

swing to have the Court end proceedings as soon as Angie notified the Court she would not relocate without first having an adequate cause hearing. At the least, judicial economy required the case to continue and there was no harm or prejudice in continuing.

A Modification is upheld outside an abuse of discretion, which occurs if the findings are not supported by the records. In re Marriage of g, 154 Wn. App. 803, 812, 806, P.3d 202 (2010). Even if there is no direct evidence of detriment to a child, inferences showing a child is likely affected by dysfunction supports a finding of detriment. Id. At 815. In our case, there was testimony that Memphis' has stronger attachments to every person in her life, except for her mother and that her lack of attachment to her mother was very concerning to the Court. The Court found that it was not in Memphis'--best interest to shuffle amongst a variety of Angie's friend's houses to sleep. Angle and Paula also believed that they did not have to let Mike speak with Memphis when Memphis was in their custody. The Court found that this behavior was an example of Angie's inability to co-parent. Any behavior that was detrimental to Memphis' health was Angle's unilateral decisions to cancel agreed doctor appointments without telling Mike, which also effects Mike's ability to be involved in decision making.

The Court found the change making Mike the primary parent was in Memphis' best interest because the instability that has become apparent since 2013 is detrimental to Memphis. The Court based its decision in part on the number of jobs Angie has held, her inability to co-parent, her unilateral decision making in cancelling and rescheduling Memphis' medical appointments to times when Mike could not attend and not even informing Mike of the change, withholding communication, and that no one really knew on a daily basis where Angie and/or Memphis would be sleeping.

The Court relied on the testimony of Angie and Paula that Angie regularly sleeps at residences other than Paula's, the testimony and opinion of the PI that Angie did not live at Paula's. The Court also heard direct conflicting testimony during trial for where Memphis and Angie slept the night of Memphis' fifth birthday. Mike tried to call Memphis on her birthday, but Angie did not answer. Angie testified that they slept at Cash's in Sammamish and Paula testified that Memphis and Angie slept at her house in University Place. Angie testified that she and Memphis spent the night at Cash's in Sammamish on the Wednesday before trial. Angie testified that she took Memphis to school the next day on Thursday and then again on

Friday. The attendance records from the school show that Memphis did not attend school on Thursday or Friday.

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